Chapter 5 Fabrication and Cheating



Contents

5.1	Introduction		82
	5.1.1	The Expert's Sin	82
5.2	Forgery		83
	5.2.1	The Manufacturing of Science	83
	5.2.2	Telltale Signs of Fraud	83
	5.2.3	The Student Who Almost Got Away with It (Until Another Student Blew It)	84
	5.2.4	Whistleblowing	85
	5.2.5	Exposing Fraud	86
5.3	Cheating		
	5.3.1	Cheating: A Shortcut to Knowledge?	86
	5.3.2	Dealing with Deception.	88
	5.3.3	Is There a Cheating Crisis?	91
5.4	Ghostwriting		93
	5.4.1	Ghost in the Machine.	93
	5.4.2	Hiring a Helping Hand	95
	5.4.3	Where to Draw the Line?	97
5.5	Fraud Facilitating Factors		
	5.5.1	What Causes Fraud?	98
	5.5.2	Psychological Dimension	98
	5.5.3	Situational Dimension	101
	5.5.4	Cultural Dimension	101
	5.5.5	Integrative Perspective	102
5.6	Clearing Science: Measures to Counter Fabrication		104
	5.6.1	Fake Science	104
	5.6.2	Academic Peers	105
	5.6.3	Proctoring or Disciplining?	105
	5.6.4	Sanction or Honor Code?	105

Electronic Supplementary Material: The online version of this chapter (https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-48415-6_5) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

5.7	Conclusions			
	5.7.1 Summary	106		
	5.7.2 Discussion	107		
Case	e Study: The Temptations of Experimental Social Psychology	107		
	Assignment	110		
Case	Case Study: Unexplained or Untrue?			
	Assignment	112		
Sugg	Suggested Reading			
Refe	rences	113		

After Reading This Chapter, You Will:

- Know what fabrication is
- · Be able to distinguish between fabrication and other forms of fraud
- · Understand how fabrication impacts the social sciences
- · Comprehend how institutions respond to cheating and fabrication

Keywords Canvassing · Cheating · Cheating crisis · Crisis of confidence · Deception · Fabrication · Factor loading · Fake science · Forgery · Fraud triangle · Free riding · Ghostwriting · Hoaxing · Honor code · Linguistic analysis · Paper mill · Proctoring · Publication pressure · Whistleblowing

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 The Expert's Sin

If plagiarism is the crime of the novice, then fabrication is the expert's specialty. Unlike 'falsifying' (the subject of the next chapter), which is the deliberate *mis*representation of data, fabrication involves the presentation and reporting of fake or non-existent research procedures, data, and findings. Fabrication is a form of cheating. It is about turning science upside down, it starts, rather than ends, with the answer to a question.

Fabrication probably occurs less frequently than plagiarism, but it is a much more serious form of misconduct. In a systematic review of the literature on the prevalence of scientific misconduct, Daniele Fanelli (2009) found that 2% of scientists admit to serious forms of misconduct, such as fabrication or modifying data, at least once. Additionally, 14% of respondents observed this misconduct in colleagues. The discrepancy between these findings, in which people perceive themselves to be more honest than their peers, is known as the 'better than average effect' (see; Festinger 1954).

There is another bias in these figure. Self-reporting tends to underestimate the real frequency of scientific misconduct. The incidence of fraud may be higher than we know. This triggers one's imagination, spawning a number of questions: How many

more cases actually exist that just haven't been discovered yet? How likely is it that fabrication eventually comes to be discovered (unlike with plagiarism, there is no 'fabrication detection software' available)? How vulnerable are the social sciences to this type of fraud? Or is it more inherent to certain research environments? As Jennifer Crocker (2011) notes, fraud 'starts with a single step,' an observation relevant to the infamous case of Diederick Stapel, which we will discuss in our case study.

While the take-home message of this chapter is that we must arm ourselves against these forms of fraud, we should also realize that the dividing line between proper and fraudulent behavior can be thin. Many fraudsters start their criminal careers with small transgressions that gradually increase in scale, especially when no one stops them in their tracks.

In this chapter, we will explore three specific forms of fabrication: *forgery*, *cheating*, and *ghostwriting*. We will then discuss the factors that facilitate fabrication, concluding with an examination of institutional counterstrategies.

5.2 Forgery

5.2.1 The Manufacturing of Science

The invention of complete datasets, and the fabrication of entire cohorts of respondents and their responses may be more difficult to accomplish than appears at first sight. A 'successful fraud' must not only know what 'good results' are but must also know how data convincingly corroborates conclusions. How does forgery work? What are its tell-tale signs? And what happens once the fraud is exposed?

5.2.2 Telltale Signs of Fraud

Diederik Stapel, a prolific writer and charismatic figure in social psychology in the Netherlands, succeeded in conning many of his colleagues with what is considered one of the greatest cases of fraud in the social sciences. He was exposed after three junior colleagues found his findings suspicious. The affair created a shockwave throughout the world of social psychology, leading to what is called 'a crisis of confidence' with the public.

Were there any tell-tale signs in Stapel's publications that indicated fraud? A commission that later investigated his work found sloppy mistakes and 'unbelievably high factor loadings' (a statistical term understood as an indication of an item's relative importance).

The question was raised as to why peer reviewers had never noticed his fraud. Interestingly, the tell-tale signs of fraud were revealed in a *linguistic* analysis of his work, in which Stapel's fraudulent studies were compared with his genuine work. The fraudulent writing contained 'significantly higher rates of terms related to scientific methods and empirical investigation,' suggesting that fraudulent papers involve an 'overproduction of scientific discourse' (Markowitz and Hancock 2014, p. 2). In other words, Stapel's studies were not only *too good to be true*, they were often also *too wrapped up in scientific jargon to be true*.

5.2.3 The Student Who Almost Got Away with It (Until Another Student Blew It)

The following story, reported by Jesse Singal in *New York Magazine* on May 29th 2015, gives us insight into the case of a student involved in data fabrication, and of another student who blew the lid off.

Michael LaCour was a political science student at UCLA (University of California, Los Angeles), who rose to fame in 2013 when he discovered information that contradicted everything that was then known about 'canvassing.' 'Canvasses' are short conversations between people, with one person attempting to persuade the other, often occurring during political campaigns. Typically, these forms of contact are known to have little to no lasting effect on an individual's political ideals. That is, until LaCour claimed to have found that brief talks (lasting roughly 10 min) about marriage equality, with a canvasser who revealed during the chat that they are gay, had a significant, lasting effect on the voter's views (as measured by an online survey administered before and after the conversation).

LaCour managed to get his results published in the prestigious journal *Science* (with senior co-author Donald Green). It instantly attracted nationwide attention. When LaCour discussed his work with David Broockman, a third-year political science grad student at Berkeley, the latter was so impressed that he sought to replicate the study. It wasn't long before Broockman became suspicious. Not only did he fail to replicate the original findings, he also found irregularities in LaCour's original data. They were 'too orderly.' When he subsequently contacted the firm that supposedly performed the surveys for LaCour, he learned that they had undertaken no such survey.

Broockman discussed his misgivings with Neil Malhotra, professor at Stanford's business school, who advised him not to blow the whistle to avoid possible repercussions. Broockman decided to come forth with his findings regardless, contacting LaCour's co-author Green. Green confronted LaCour, who failed to alleviate any of his doubts. Thereupon Green requested that their paper be retracted (against LaCour's wishes).

The story ended badly for LaCour. An offer to become an assistant professor at Princeton was rescinded. But Green too suffered repercussions, seeing a fellowship worth \$200,000 fall through. Broockman, on the other hand, got a tenured-track professorship at Stanford University.

With the event behind him, Broockman spoke with Jesse Singal, the journalist who covered the case, reflecting on his experience as the whistleblower. Broockman

compared it to what he went through when, as a teenager, he came out as a gay. 'Part of the message that I want to send to potential disclosers of the future is that you have a duty to come out about this, you'll be rewarded if you do so in a responsible way [...].' (quoted in Singal 2015).

5.2.4 Whistleblowing

Whistleblowers such as Broockman fulfill an important but often risky and thankless role in science. Unlike in Broockman's case, the outcome for many whistleblowers falls far short of a happy ending. Perhaps this is because in many cases, whistleblowers are in a vulnerable position (which was why Malhotra advised Broockman against it).

Consider the case of Saskia Vorstenbosch, a PhD student at the Leiden University Medical Centre (LUMC) in the Netherlands (the following details are drawn from reporting by De Vrieze, 2017).

Vorstenbosch worked with a cell biologist in the early 2000s. One day, while preparing a presentation, she discovered anomalies in a number of experiments performed by the biologist. She 'started digging' and found evidence that suggested some of the data had been 'manipulated.' After reexamining her findings, Vorstenbosch reported her suspicions to the head of the department, who was reluctant to start an investigation. The department head only initiated an investigation after Vorstenbosch insisted she would report the case with or without him.

After an 18-month investigation, the integrity commission at LUMC indeed found irregularities, but only in one of the biologist's papers. Dissatisfied with this outcome, Vorstenbosch took the report to the integrity commission of the Dutch National Academy of Sciences (KNAW), who researched the case more thoroughly and concluded that other forms of misconduct had taken place. The commission advised that four of the biologist's articles be retracted. By this point, the researcher no longer worked in the Netherlands and managed to keep her name out of the press. No actions were taken against her, nor were any more of her publications withdrawn.

Tragically, Vorstenbosch, whose area of study was partly based on the biologist's research, had only achieved in undermining her own work, because her data were now also contaminated. She withdrew from science altogether even though LUMC offered her a new PhD trajectory. Speaking with a reporter about her experience, she reflected: 'People don't seem eager to undertake action [against fraud] because it might damage their own name. It's true that I too have been damaged, but should that have been reason for me to say: I'll leave it like that, I'll just keep silent? Sure enough [after fraud is discovered] publications are going to be withdrawn, but you don't want your name attached to something which you know is not true, do you?' (Fig. 5.1)

Fig. 5.1 The Whistleblower



5.2.5 Exposing Fraud

From cases such as these, two provisional conclusions can be drawn. The first is that scientific frauds oftentimes betray themselves, leaving traces of their misdeeds. That's because fraudulent researchers mimic real research. However, since they work backward, from conclusions to data, their results are often unnaturally orderly. Ironically then, a successful fraud must build in imperfections and create small deviations from the expected outcome. This might actually involve more work than performing real research.

The second conclusion is that *exposing* fraud can prove to be surprisingly difficult. Fraudsters are often unwilling to hand in their material, so how is fabrication proven without this data? Regularly, when suspicion of misconduct does arise, seemingly valid excuses are produced to explain the lack of material: 'it was a long time ago'; 'the original data was destroyed'; or 'my computer crashed'. These excuses are sometimes accompanied with authoritarian arguments, like 'who are you to criticize a tenured researcher?'. Sometimes these arguments even resort to downright threats, along the lines of 'this will destroy your career.' Facing these types of situations undoubtedly makes whistleblowing an unattractive, if not risky undertaking (Box 5.1).

5.3 Cheating

5.3.1 Cheating: A Shortcut to Knowledge?

There is good reason to consider the practice of cheating on a test to be akin to data fabrication, rather than a form of plagiarism or falsification (although, admittedly, there is an overlap between these categories – see Chaps. 3 and 6).

Just as scientific claims need to be grounded in real research findings, the results of an exam must also be based on 'real work.' Thus, cheating as a 'short cut to

Box 5.1: Self-Correction: A Dilemma

A student reaches out for help on 'r/AskAcademia', a discussion platform on the website *Reddit*. The student writes: 'I graduated three months ago and now my teacher wants to publish the paper. While most of the data is accurate and real, for some of it I made an educated guess using some economic forecast data. I was hoping I could postpone having it published until I find accurate data, but because this is an economic topic that is so new I wasn't able to do that. So what do I do? Is there a realistic chance of me being found out? Do I have him submit the paper?'

Of several dozen responses, here are four answers posted on the message board (paraphrased by us). Which one do you prefer and why?

- (a) Do not under any circumstance allow that paper to be published! You have somehow missed the point that it is your professor's reputation on the line here.
- (b) For the university's sake, tell your professor the truth. They will be so relieved that they didn't publish fabricated data that they will forgive you, and possibly even praise and appreciate your honesty. Everybody screws up every now and then. But we need to try to fix our screw-ups when possible.
- (c) You should say something like: I revisited the analysis and I found out that I made a critical error. I'm sorry, I should have checked more completely before turning in the assignment but I'm glad I caught it before we published it.
- (d) I suggest you just keep quiet and let it publish. The Chinese GDP data and a lot of developed world data is made up, twisted, or seasonally adjusted. If concerned, build in an appendix explaining how some data was created as 'line of best fit' based on your assumptions.

knowledge' is nearly synonymous with presenting a conclusion based on fictitious data – whether the outcome is correct or not makes no difference.

What exactly is cheating? Lim and See (2001) offer a list that covers a wide range of betrayals to academic integrity. To name a few, cheating can come in the form of using unauthorized material, stealing exams, lying about circumstances (to get special consideration), allowing team members to do the bulk of the work, inventing data, listing unread or even nonexistent sources, copying from a neighbor during a test, or allowing a neighbor to copy from you.

A discussion of the many tricks used by students to cheat on exams can be found in Harold Noah and Max Eckstein's instructive 2001 book *Fraud and Education: The Worm in the Apple.* The strategies they identified are far ranging and many involve a fair share of creativity; scribbling notes on their skin, tapping codes on the floor, stealing test papers, printing and attaching cheat sheets on the inside of a water bottle's label, and even sending impersonators to take tests on their behalf. In the decades since Noah and Eckstein published their book, strategies today likely employ the services of the digital age, such as messaging apps, smart watches, and Bluetooth earbuds. Vincent Versluis and Arie de Wild (2015), of the Rotterdam University of Applied Sciences, investigated 'digital cheating' during exams in higher education and concluded that institutions seriously lag behind. Neither teachers nor administrators seemed aware of the scale or magnitude of modern forms of fraud, let alone how to counter it.

5.3.2 Dealing with Deception

Before exploring the prevalence of cheating, we must first examine a few actual cases that have come before a university board of examination. What are the common forms of cheating that universities experience and how do they respond?

Cheat sheets Recently, a student at Utrecht University was caught using the oldest trick in the book, a cheat sheet. They scribbled extensive notes and figures in their dictionary, and were caught during a routine patrol of the room. The case was reported to the board of examination, who decided to annul their exam. Furthermore, they received an official slap on the wrist that went into their record, and they were excluded from the course for a year (Figs. 5.2 and 5.3).

Falsifying grade lists A law student wanted to switch from Erasmus University to Leiden University and believed it would be necessary to falsify their grades before applying. In the process, they also forged the signature of a university employee. This was regarded as a *criminal* act when the forgeries were discovered, and the student ended up in court. Before the judge, they dramatically declared: 'I saw no other way out. It felt like either a diploma or death.' They received a suspended jail sentence of 2 weeks and 60 h community service for the forgery (Bonger, 2015).

Scheming Two students at Utrecht University developed the following scheme. Both showed up at the same exam and when it was time for submission, they got up in unison, proceeded to the examiners table, and bumped into each other 'by accident' on the way before dropping their paperwork on the floor. While they scooped up their belongings, they swapped papers, thus allowing one to hand in the exam of the other. The other, never having enrolled in this class, slipped away in the confusion unnoticed.

The scheme would have worked had two fellow students not witnessed the deceit and decided to report it to the teachers. The two were thereupon interviewed, but they categorically denied all allegations. A forensic expert was then consulted, who examined their handwriting and the allegations were confirmed. Both students were expelled from the university on account of severe academic misconduct (case reported to the author by a member of the board of examination at UU).

Photographing exams In 2012, at Tilburg University, a student was reported by several anonymous peers photographing tests with their cell phone at multiple exams, and placing the images on Facebook. When confronted with the accusations,



Fig. 5.2 Sheet sheet of a psychology student. Sample confiscated by a teacher and reproduced with permission of the UU board of examination

and the second state of the second state of the Went 11619: 712461 -24 143 sle h imale 57 tend wit a sheller - allium Vina V. t EL # 221 1-1-1 24 CANG CLYRG 2 24 4 (v W ding E s vert K + men 1 45 . 10 -ALLA .

Fig. 5.3 Cheat sheets. Sample found by the author between the pages of a second-hand book. The actual size of the sheets is about 3 x 4 cm.

they confessed, maintaining that they 'had not wanted to profit from the situation, financially or otherwise'. They said they merely wanted to be able to study the questions at home, although agreeing it was wrong. The teacher, however, suspected the photos were already put up on Facebook *during* the exam, and believed the student might have been soliciting help from the outside. This could not be proven though.

The board of examination ruled that for two of her exams, where fraud could be proven, the results would be annulled. The student was furthermore excluded from all courses for the remainder of the year, as well as the entirety of the next. The student appealed against the ruling, claiming that the sentence was 'disproportional' and that they would be unable to finish their BA in time, thus facing a significant financial drawback. They additionally could also lose their position in the master's program the next year. The appeal was dismissed, on grounds of the fraud being 'extraordinarily serious' (ruling 972 of the board of examination at Tilburg University 2012).

Logging in twice In April 2014, large-scale fraud was detected during a digital exam in a statistics course for business and economy students at Amsterdam University. Students would log into the exam twice, using two different browsers. The first browser was used to work on the questions. Once the questions were answered, the digital exam revealed the correct responses. Students would then submit the now-known answers into the exam open in the second browser. Some 400 students passed the exam with abnormally high marks, which lead to suspicion of fraud. Closer inspection further revealed that the students had completed the test unrealistically fast. The exam was annulled for all 400 students (Anonymous, 2014).

Exams annulled In October 2016, some 100 pedagogy students at Salzburg University completed a test but never received the results. The entire examination was annulled after it was discovered that a number of students had discussed the multiple-choice questions used in previous exams in a closed Facebook group. Students protested against the ruling, and a discussion arose as to whether their behavior was in fact illegal. The vice-rector of the university said that copying questions and distributing them in itself wasn't wrong as long as the answers were not included. The course coordinator discovered, however, that all of his examination questions (a total of 14 pages) had been photographed by students, including the answers, and hence the annulment remained (Anonymous, 2016).

5.3.3 Is There a Cheating Crisis?

In May 2016, the *Irish Mirror*, using the Freedom of Information Act, revealed that between 2012 and 2015, over 800 students had been caught cheating across seven universities in Ireland, and that only a few students had been reprimanded, with none being expelled. 'Cheating' was broadly understood here to cover a range of exam conduct violations, including plagiarism, impersonation, and ghost writing.

Just a few months earlier, English newspapers, taking advantage of the same legislation, reported that almost 50,000 students at British universities had been

caught cheating in the last 3 years. A disproportional percentage of whom, it was added, were international students from outside the EU. Similarly, in April 2016, *The Adelaide Advertizer* reported that more than 1800 students at Flinders and Adelaide Universities in south Australia had been caught copying one another's work and cheating on exams since 2010.

Has dishonest behavior among university students reached endemic proportions? Current research on academic misconduct seems to support this dramatic conclusion, at least to a certain point. Diekhoff et al. (1996) found a significant rise in (self-reported) cheating attitudes and behaviors between 1984 and 1994 in a group of students at midwestern universities in the United States. The prevalence of cheating behaviors (on exams, quizzes, or assignments) went up from 54.1% in 1984 to 61.1% in 1994. Twenty years later, Vandehey et al. (2007) repeated the study and found a slight decrease rather than increase among a similar student demographic. Overall, they concluded that instances of cheating behavior dropped to 57.4%, but strikingly, was still represented in a majority of students.

Similar trends have been described by fellow researchers in the study of academic dishonesty. McCabe and Trevino (1996) observed that self-reported admissions of academic misconduct (cheating on an exam, for example) saw a substantial increase from 39% to 64% between 1963 and 1993. While some researchers reported more conservative figures, others painted an even darker picture, claiming that only a small *minority* of students didn't engage in some form of cheating (of note, it is difficult to assess how accurate these reports are; see Franklin-Stokes and Newstead 1995). Following the findings of Anderson and Murdoch (2007), it can be safely said that cheating is both fairly common, and at the same time, seriously underestimated by teachers.

Is the 'cheating crisis' perceived universally in universities around the world? This question is hard to answer. It has been reported that, for example, postcommunist central eastern countries in Europe have a higher prevalence of cheating behavior than other European countries (Pabian, 2015), and that Hong Kong business students are less likely to engage in cheating behavior than American business students (Chapman and Lupton 2004).

These isolated comparative studies of specific academic communities reveal little about the national character of academic (mis)conduct. Given the confusion over what exactly constitutes 'cheating' (see Box 5.2 for an overview of academic

Box 5.2: 'Classification of Forms of Academic Dishonesty' (List Compiled from Different Encyclopedic Works)

Cheating: Use of illegal tools, attempt to obtain external assistance during an examination, and use of unauthorized prior knowledge.

Deception: Providing false information to an instructor concerning a formal academic exercise—i.e., giving a false excuse for missing a deadline or falsely claiming to have submitted work.

(continued)

Box 5.2 (continued)

Fabrication: Presentation and reporting of fake or non-existent research data and findings.Facilitation: Helping or attempting to help another commit an act of aca-

demic dishonesty.

Ghostwriting: Submitting work written by a third party.

Impersonation: Assuming another student's identity with the intent to provide the student an advantage.

Plagiarism: Appropriation of someone else's work (or ideas) and passing it off as one's own.

dishonesty), the scarcity of studies into academic cheating, and the notorious unreliability of self-reporting, on which most studies are based, the exact magnitude and impact of the 'cheating crisis' will probably remain clouded for some time to come.

5.4 Ghostwriting

5.4.1 Ghost in the Machine

'Ghostwriting' is a practice that emerged in the 1980s and 1990s. David Healy from University of Wales College in Medicine, UK described one of his experiences with the phenomenon. He once received an email from a pharmaceutical company with a paper attached, its premise based on Healy's own published work. It looked as if he had written it himself; in fact, it was 'a recognizable Healy piece' (2005, p. 41). The paper was offered to him as an article he could publish under his own name. He declined on grounds that it's unethical to publish papers you haven't written yourself.

However, when a different company sent him a similar offer some 2 years later, he decided to see what would happen if he accepted but altered the content of the paper significantly. In spite of the assurance that he was 'free to edit the original article,' his changes were not accepted. Healy thereupon withdrew his name from the article. The paper, written *for* him but not *by* him, was eventually published under someone else's name.

Horace Freeman Judson reveals in *The Great Betrayal* (2004) the motives behind this type of 'ghostwriting' (presenting finished manuscripts to acknowledged scientists as a 'gift'): they are created by large pharmaceutical companies to present their products in a favorable light. The ready-made ghostwritten papers invariably report positively on a specific product (a certain drug, therapy, or medication). These

papers could constitute a form of 'product placement.' They are well-written and mimic real tests and are therefore difficult to distinguish from proper research.

Ghostwriting has not only dramatically increased in frequency, it has also 'professionalized.' Sismondo (2009) writes how pharmaceutical companies now plan publications strategically in advance of the actual research taking place. Companies map out key messages, determine information relevant to various audiences and journals, and identify potential authors for their papers. Once research becomes available, 'publication planners' hire writers, negotiate with potential authors, and 'shepherd the papers through journals' submission and review procedures' (p. 175).

This may seem shady enough, but defenders of this practice claim that science is a collaborative enterprise. 'Jointly authored papers are the rule in science, not the exception, and medical writers often produce clearer, more readable papers than medical researchers themselves' (Moffatt and Elliott 2007, p. 21).

On the other spectrum of authorship, there is a second form of ghostwriting that targets unsuccessful authors. Instead of getting compensated for having their name on a paper, these authors are offered an opportunity to pay for a 'slot' in a paper written by someone else. In a publish-or-perish culture, researchers are sometimes willing to go to great lengths to keep up with the pace. *Science* reported in its issue on January 10th, 2014 on how Chinese brokers sell 'co-authorship' in papers already accepted for publication. Fees range from \$1600 to \$26,300, depending on the impact factor of the journal (Fig. 5.4).

To be clear, journal editors and peer reviewers do not appreciate either form of 'ghost authorship,' but are sometimes hard-pressed by industries and publishing companies to accept the practice as a fact of modern life. Thus, one publisher is quoted as saying in response to his editor's opposition of ghostwriting: 'Fine, you may have that view, but what you're actually doing is driving it underground. It's far



Fig. 5.4 The Ghostwriter

Box 5.3: 'Putting the Supervisor First: A Dilemma'

You have just finished your master's project and you want to submit your thesis as an article to a journal. Next year you plan to continue as a PhD student at the same institution. The supervisor of your master's project has announced that if you are accepted into the program, they will also be the supervisor of your PhD project. Additionally, they tell you that they want their name on your article as a first author, even though they contributed little to the project. This will improve your chances for the PhD position, they inform you. How do you respond? Choose one of the following options and prepare an argument defending your selection.

- 1. Ignore the request and submit the paper in your name only, running the risk of not getting accepted to the PhD program.
- 2. Accept the request and put forth the supervisor's name as a first author.
- 3. Report the incident as unethical behavior to the integrity officer.
- 4. Go to the dean of the faculty and discuss it with them first.

[Adapted with permission from the Erasmus Ethical Dilemma game].

better to be transparent and get this out into the open' (quoted in Sismondo 2009, p. 181).

Ghost authorship is more dominant in the medical sciences, where the interests at stake are far greater than anywhere else. Specialized agencies offer to write research proposals for researchers at a no-cure-no-pay basis. They claim a percentage of the grant money if the application is accepted. Few would consider this 'cheating,' yet one must ask where the involvement of such ghostwriters will end. Should they be made responsible for the formulation of research questions or the development of instruments too? Wouldn't this allow them to steer research in a particular direction? (Box 5.3).

5.4.2 Hiring a Helping Hand

At various stages in their academic careers, students are sometimes confronted with 'ghost authorship' as well. Paid services offer a 'helping hand' in writing papers or preparing for exams by providing 'exercise materials.' In the last decade, commercial 'abstracting desks' have materialized in and around universities, who advertise with summaries and abstracts of course books, practice questions, and even lecture notes.

Most of these texts are written by students who get paid a nominal fee for their work, which is then offered for sale to other students. With little or no quality control, many of these texts are subpar. Despite this, there are students who claim to have successfully finished courses relying solely on these commercially produced abstracts, without even so much as opening up the course book.

Some desks offer additional 'writing guidance' to students, assuming (part of) the task of teachers, in service of helping students improve their writing skills. Others go one step further. They are called 'paper mills' or 'essay mills' and offer fully formed essays for sale. The first practice (writing guidance) is wholly legitimate, the second (paper mills) clearly isn't (Dickerson 2007).

Are students aware of the ethical dilemmas attached to these services desks? Zheng and Cheng (2015), who themselves were students when they did research for their article, interviewed peers at the University of San Francisco on their perspectives on hiring ghostwriters, and found to their surprise that a number of them (especially international students with English as a second language) did not see the practice as cheating, as long as it was only done once or twice. Some would argue that 'ghostwriting is a cooperative form of work and both parties [i.e. the student who gets paid for his or her services and the one who pays] gain mutual benefits.' Other students using ghostwriters agreed it was wrong but said in their defense that they did so because they were pressed for time, found the assessment too difficult or unclear, or just wanted a good grade.

When Zheng and Cheng subsequently interviewed a ghostwriter and asked how they felt about their work, the ghostwriter appeared not at all troubled by the ethical implications. Matter-of-factly, they remarked: 'the good thing that I've gained from this job is not just money but also the writing skill' (2015, p. 128) (Box 5.4).

Box 5.4: 'Paper Mills'

'Paper mills' or 'essay mills' are sketchy organizations that claim to offer 'original' and even 'custom-made' essays on any topic, at any level. Allegedly, they work with authors who have earned a PhD degree, or possess otherwise respectable credentials. However, many of these agencies operate in the shadows, and some are downright swindlers.

Paper mills could pose a greater threat to academic integrity than plagiarism (Thomas, 2015), and the production quality of these organizations often leaves much to be desired, at least judging from one of the clients, who goes by the nickname 'Thanatos' and has a complaint about a company called 'IVY dissertations writing services':

I used IVY thesis recently and not only did they send me a paper copied and pasted from other sources, it was the wrong paper all together! After I complained to them about the paper, they sent me a 'revised' paper on the correct subject, but again it was a simple copy and paste from 1 or 2 different websites. A simple Google search revealed they didn't even attempt to change the writing from the original websites. When I complained to IVY, they sent me a 'revised' paper that was exactly the same as the first, but now it had misspelled words and words used in the wrong context throughout the paper. I complained again, and they sent the exact same paper without any revisions made. After that point, they stopped responding to my e-mails (Thanatos, 2006).

5.4.3 Where to Draw the Line?

With regard to ghostwriting, there are two ethical issues that must be considered. One affects the individual researcher, who must decide where to draw the line. Hiring others to do your work is wrong, but on the other hand, collaboration is becoming more and more common practice in science (even though it's often not properly acknowledged, see Farrell 2001). This raises the question of who involved in the research should be granted co-authorship. Would that include fellow researchers? The project manager? Even the lab technician?

The second question affects the academic community, who has an obligation to protect objectivity and transparency. Peer review plays an important role in this obligation. It comes down to critical scrutiny for any internal and technical flaws. Some fear that ghostwriting bypasses this critical process. Virginia Barbour, chairperson of COPE (Committee on Publication Ethics), expressed her concerns that academic peer review is being subverted by 'almost industrial attempts by groups outside of normal publishing' (Barbour 2017) (Box 5.5).

Box 5.5: 'Free Riding: Misunderstood or Underreported?'

Imagine you are working with two other students on an assignment. There are certain items each of you need to work on, and the deadline is in 3 weeks. During that time, you realize that Alexandra, one of your teammates, continues to find new excuses for why she can't do her share of the work. Last week, she explains, she fell ill, before that she had to move, yesterday her computer crashed, and this morning she got into a fight with her boyfriend. When she finally does deliver, her work is inadequate. You and your teammates end up doing the lion's share of the work, even rewriting parts of Alexandra's section. When the paper authored by your team gets a 'B-', you feel cheated by Alexandra.

Most students are all too familiar with behavior like Alexandra's, known as 'free riding.' It tops the list of common student annoyances, although the 'better than average' principle seems in operation here: the free rider is always the *other* student.

Free riding is known to be demotivating even for diligent students, causing the entire team to perform suboptimally (a phenomenon called the 'sucker effect', see Swaray, 2011). Most universities recognize free riding as a negative side effect of group work and find it neither desirable nor acceptable in an academic environment. Thus the board of examination at the University of Twente declared that 'free-riding behavior, that is benefiting from other people's efforts in group assignments while not putting in the same effort as the other group members, can be considered as *fraud*' (source: www.utwente.nl/ en/bms, emphasis added).

Indeed, free riding is no different than cheating and should therefore be filed under 'fraud' – but is it treated as such at universities? In general, the

Box 5.5 (continued)

answer is no. Firstly, free riding often flies under the radar, since students (understandably) don't want to 'snitch' on their peers. Secondly, even when reported, it is difficult to prove. Alexandra, in our example, could claim that she *did* contribute to the team's effort. Is it her fault that the other two decided to rewrite her work?

Although acknowledging the problem, many universities find it hard to counter free riding. However, recently developed programs seem to be helping reduce its prevalence. Swaray (2012) reports that randomly selecting one group member to present the group's work increases participation, and cooperative learning is stimulated as a result. Further research by Maiden and Perry (2011) report that identifying individual contributions to group work is important, especially because groups can request that underperformers account for their behavior.

Romy Nefs (2019) proposed the following strategies to counter free riding:

- Use of small groups to allow for easy identification of individual contributions
- · Clear assignments with well-structured schedules and strict deadlines
- Team kickoff meetings with mandatory division of labor taking place right away
- · Team progress evaluation at midway point
- Evaluation of the team's work at the project's end
- · Training on how to give constructive feedback to team members

5.5 Fraud Facilitating Factors

5.5.1 What Causes Fraud?

We return to the question posed at the beginning of this chapter: what circumstances or factors lead researchers to fabricate research findings (and students to cheat)? Researchers find this to be a particularly difficult question to answer, offering a host of explanations. We review four different dimensions to the problem.

5.5.2 Psychological Dimension

There are indications that scientific misconduct may be a sign of 'moral weakness,' as the virtue approach would predict it (see Chap. 3). A modern-day idiom for behaviors of 'moral weakness' could be 'anti-social personality disorder,' which is associated with irresponsible behavior, grandiose feelings of self-worth, and a

general lack of guilt. An example of this can be seen in the case of fraud Cyril Burt (see Box 5.6), who was later described as a 'sick and tortured' man; the enormity of his trickery was anything but rational (Gould 1981, p. 236).

Box 5.6: 'The Case of Cyril Burt'

Educational psychologist Cyril Burt (1883–1971) has been regarded as one of the greatest frauds of the social sciences, at least until Diederik Stapel later assumed this dubious distinction.

A leading figure in his field between the 1940s and 1960s, Burt's most important research examined the heritability of intelligence. In particular, his work on monozygotic (or identical) twins was considered groundbreaking at the time. Having collected data on identical twins from 1909 to 1930, Burt used then state of the art statistics to calculate the correlation of the Intelligence Quotient (IQ) of identical twins who had been raised together and those who had not, comparing those with IQs of fraternal (non-identical) twins. Based on these findings, he claimed that intelligence has a very strong genetic driver.

In papers published between 1943 and 1966, Burt reported IQ correlations of 0.771 for identical twins raised apart, and 0.944 for identical twins raised together, fueling rhetoric that compensatory education is 'wasted money.' In the 1960s, Arthur Jensen, following Burt's lead, argued that 'for many people, there is nothing they can learn that will repay the cost of the teaching' (quoted in Tucker, 1997, p.156).

However, just months after Burt's death in 1971, Leon Kamin, a Princeton psychologist, pointed out several problems in Burt's work. For one, the number of monozygotic twins raised apart grew with every publication. Burt had started with a mere 15 pairs in 1909 and ended roughly 50 years later with 53, even though he had long since stopped collecting data. Identical twins separated at birth are a rare commodity. Additionally, Kamin found that the correlations reported remained exactly the same. He mused that the chances of finding the exact same correlation every time is close to zero. Remarkably, Kamin identified even more of Burt's foibles, finding that the two assistants he had supposedly worked with were seemingly nonexistent. Further still, it appeared Burt's data was constructed from ideal statistical distributions, rather than measured in reality (Gould, 1981, p. 235). To add insult to injury, Burt burnt his scientific papers shortly before his death, making foul play difficult to prove.

Burt's supporters attempted to explain away some of the most ostensible problems, interpreting them as 'sloppiness,' not fraud, and accusing 'left winged environmentalists' of slandering his name. However, even Burt's official biographer, Leslie Hearnshaw, who had access to his diaries, gradually came to the realization that his research was completely fraudulent. By the

Box 5.6 (continued)

late 1970s, the verdict was accepted that Burt, once called the 'dean of the world's psychologists,' had likely fabricated most of his data. A meticulous historical analysis of the case by William Tucker (1997) showed that Burt was a fraud beyond reasonable doubt (Fig. 5.5).

Fig. 5.5 Sir Cyril Burt in the 1930s. (Source: Wikicommons)



Were frauds to be understood in terms of their psychological condition only, it would help explain why their behavior can be so reckless and self-destructive. After all, how could high profile authors producing fraudulent studies expect their deceit to go undetected? But would this explanation also help understand less serious forms of fraud (such as cheating on an exam), that people from all walks of life may commit?

Social psychologist Scott Wowra of the University of Florida probed first year psychology students at a southeastern university in the US, using an 'integrity scale' to measure the strength of their 'moral identity' (i.e. the incorporation of ideals of justice and fairness). He related student's moral identity to their ability to recall antisocial behavior, including academic dishonesty, and found a negative correlation. Thus, the 'relative centrality' of a college student's moral identity appears to affect his or her willingness to engage in academic dishonesty' (Wowra 2007, p. 317).

5.5.3 Situational Dimension

From an economic perspective, fraud in science may be all but irrational. To those seeking the highest outcome for the lowest cost, misconduct may be considered rational behavior. Economist James Wible of the University of New Hampshire argues that statistically-inclined, opportunistic scientists 'estimate the probability and the expected utility of successful evasion from discovery and then make a conscious choice to commit or not commit fraud' (1992, p. 21).

If this is true, then their decision-making depends on (a) the relative gains of committing fraud, (b) the probability of getting caught, and (c) the sort of punishments one can expect to encounter when caught. In this calculation, the chances that one will engage in fabricating data can be expected to decrease with the probability of being discovered and the weight of the penalty.

The same applies, of course, to students who may be seduced into engaging in cheating behavior when the situation appears inviting or rewarding enough. Consequently, it can be argued that a lack of reliable systems in place to monitor for cheating, unfamiliarity with university policies, and the atmosphere of secrecy that so often surrounds fraud at universities, all contribute to the continuation of the conditions that breed cheating.

5.5.4 Cultural Dimension

A third approach explaining academic fraud places emphasis on the institutional teaching and research cultures at universities. Various cultural factors have been said to influence the incidence of fraud.

One such factor is *publication pressure*. According to sociologist Patricia Woolf of Princeton University, academic 'publication is no longer just a way to communicate information. It has come to be a way of evaluating scientists; in many cases it is the primary factor in professional advancement' (1986, p. 254). In the decades since this was written, competition among universities, individual researchers, and even students has risen, as has the drive toward more scientific productivity and the call for 'excellence.' Some argue that this pressure caused scientists to cut corners (see; Fanelli, 2010a, b, 2012). We return to this issue in Chap. 9.

Another factor is *peer culture*, the pressure one feels to conform to the prevailing attitudes of their peers. In a survey of US college students, Rettinger and Kramer found that decisions to cheat depended at least partly on one's perception that others were cheating too. They concluded that 'seeing cheating is the beginning of a social learning process. New students learn how to behave by observing their peer(s)' (2009, p. 310). More particularly, performance-oriented teaching styles in class, coupled with poor instruction, can lead students to justify cheating (Murdock in Rettinger and Kramer 2009). Similarly, Shu Ching Yang (2012, p. 235), who examined academic dishonesty among Taiwanese students, found that the behaviors and attitudes of peer groups influenced student decision making regarding such conduct.

5.5.5 Integrative Perspective

Various attempts were undertaken to integrate personal, situational, and cultural dimensions into a unified model for analyzing cases of fraud. One such model, presented by Donald Cressey, is coined as the 'Fraud Triangle' (1973). It combines three factors: incentives to commit fraud ('opportunity'), various contextual factors ('pressure'), and the perception of an action as fitting into one's personal code of ethics ('rationalization'). Thus, when students claim to be unclear about what behaviors constitute academic dishonesty or say a particular course 'isn't relevant for their future career,' they *rationalize*. When they cite increased competition for academic positions, they perceive *pressure*. And when they make use of a gap in an exam's procedures, they take advantage of an *opportunity* (Hayes et al. 2006).

Becker, Connoly, Lentz, and Morison (2006) found that all three factors predict dishonest behavior in business students (who rank the most likely to cheat). Their conclusion was largely confirmed by Choo and Tan (2008), who also identified that the three factors all held influence on a student's propensity to cheat (Figs. 5.6 and 5.7).

Breaking the Fraud Triangle (opportunity, pressure, rationalization) is regarded as a key to its deterrence. Since the three elements strongly interact, removing one would significantly reduce the risk of unethical behaviors emerging. Of the three, opportunity is 'most directly affected by the system of internal controls and generally provides the most actionable route to deterrence of fraud' (Cendrowski, Martin, & Petro, *The Handbook of Fraud Deterrence*, 2007, p.41) (Box 5.7).

Fig. 5.6 *Fraud Triangle.* (After Cressey, 1973)





Fig. 5.7 'Alex, why are you so stressed out?'. (Photo cartoon © Ype Driessen, 2019, reproduced with permission from the author)

Box 5.7: 'Hoaxing'

A 'hoax' is a prank, a small con committed on an individual or group of people, who are made to believe something only to find out that the joke's on them. Hoaxes typically involve the production of some form of falsehood, but they aren't classified as 'fraud' because the intention is not to profit from the deceit.

The notorious 1996 'Sokal Hoax' was a practical joke played on French postmodernist sociologists and their followers. Alan Sokal, professor of physics at New York University, composed a text, entitled 'Transgressing the Boundaries: Towards a Transformative Hermeneutics of Quantum Gravity,' which was made up largely of (attributed as well as non-attributed) quotations from prominent French postmodernists, including, to name a few, Gilles Deleuze, Jacques Derrida, Jacques Lacan, and Bruno Latour. In the paper, Sokal argued that 'physical "reality", no less than social "reality" is at the bottom a social and linguistic construct' (Sokal and Bricmond 1998, p. 2).

Box 5.7 (continued)

Sokal submitted the article to *Social Text*, a leading American culturalstudies journal, despite believing it to be complete gibberish and full of logical errors. Shortly after *Social Text* accepted the article and ran it in the Spring 1996 issue, Sokal came out, declaring it a 'parody.' He proclaimed that his intentions were to expose postmodernist discourse as pretentious drivel. Sokal argued that despite frequent references to subjects like quantum mechanics, string theory, and Einstein's general theory of relativity, postmodernists possessed a completely flawed understanding of the natural sciences. A follow-up book, entitled *Fashionable Nonsense. Postmodern Intellectuals' Abuse of Science* (Sokal and Bricmond 1998) spelled out his argument in further detail.

Following in the footsteps of Sokal, Peter Boghossian and two of his colleagues at Portland State University carried out a similar but more elaborate hoax in 2018, known as the 'grievance studies affair.' They wrote no less than 20 articles, promoting deliberately absurd ideas on morality and morally questionably acts, and submitted them to journals on post-colonial theory, gender studies, queer theory, and intersectional feminism – which they dubbed 'grievance studies' because in these fields 'grievances are put ahead of objective truth.' Seven articles were accepted (four even published), nine were rejected, and the remaining were under review or in the process of resubmission when the hoax was revealed.

The hoax, aimed to expose the lack of scientific rigor in postmodern research, backfired when Boghossian and his colleagues were critiqued for the same reason, as they had not included a control group in their experiment, and even had to face a research misconduct inquiry on the grounds of conducting human subject-based research without approval, and for fabricating data.

Hoaxes such as these are not just 'practical jokes.' They are meant to be critiques of scientific practices, directed at the shortcomings of quality control in the publishing process, and purported to raise awareness of the lack of critical faculties in some academic circles. However, they also raise questions themselves. Is it, for example, ethically acceptable to waste recourses in this way? And do these authors not act in bad faith, deliberately misrepresenting the fields of research they purport to expose?

5.6 Clearing Science: Measures to Counter Fabrication

5.6.1 Fake Science

Fabrication is a form of academic misconduct that belongs in the realm of 'fake science.' It is a deliberate attempt at deceit. What can be done to counter it? We discuss three general strategies.

5.6.2 Academic Peers

An important role in exposing fraud is reserved to the academic community. Both Stapel and Burt were unmasked by fellow researchers, cheating students by their peers. But whistleblowing is an unappealing option as we have seen, and not always appreciated in the academic community.

Lim and See (2001) report that Singaporean students are quite tolerant of academic dishonesty, with the majority of them preferring to ignore the problem rather than report it. One student commented: 'Nobody will report another student for cheating as you may be the one cheating someday' (p. 272). Malgwi and Rakovski (2009) found that American students were just as reluctant to report academic dishonesty to the relevant authorities, and preferred other counter measures (including stronger penalties, parental notifications, or use of an anonymous tip line).

5.6.3 Proctoring or Disciplining?

Many notorious frauds were in the position to hide their actions. Would putting more checks in place, and not allowing the opportunity to fabricate data in the first place play a role in diminishing the ethical risks?

With forms of online and distance learning rapidly expanding at universities, 'proctoring' (supervising students taking exams, verifying their identities, and other forms of vigilance) becomes indispensable to not 'giving an opportunity' to cheaters.

Research by Prince, Fulton, and Garsombke (2009) suggests that some form of vigilance is justifiable, but it can easily transform into ludicrous distrust, as the 'Classroom Management and Student Conduct' page of *WikiHow* reveals. On the page with tips for teachers, we find such suggestions as this: *Greet the student as they come into the classroom, look them in the eye, and watch for signs of nervous-ness, while simultaneously inspecting their arms to see if notes are written on them.* Also: *Know that some female students might write on their legs but be aware that that observing this behavior might lead to an accusation of harassment.*

In a climate of mistrust and suspicion, students will complain that campus integrity policies are biased against them (see McCabe 2005). Or worse, argues Zwagerman (2008, p. 6909), in a climate that is entirely designed to eliminate every opportunity to cheat, suppression of academic dishonesty becomes 'more important than anything that might be sacrificed in the effect – including education.'

5.6.4 Sanction or Honor Code?

Would it help to decrease incidents of cheating by increasing the penalty? In an examination of several classical cases of fraud, Bridgestock (1982) argues to the contrary. He observed that for many offenders, career pressure, or even an unusual

commitment to a certain set of ideas, overrides considerations of ethics. Sanctions are 'at best a partial deterrent to fraud' (pp. 378–9).

Stephen Davis (1993) corroborates this finding. Confronted with the question: 'If a professor has strict penalties and informs the class about them at the beginning of the semester, would this prevent you from cheating?' some 40% of male students responded 'no.' Female students were only slightly more responsive. Closer examination of the data showed that the majority of the students who responded with a 'no' had reported previously cheating in college. In short: 'if students have cheated in the past and plan to cheat again, there is precious little that will sway their course of action' (1993, p. 28).

On the other hand, would an approach that capitalizes on fairmindedness and justice help? Can cheating be deterred if students are made more familiar with academic integrity, and offered an honor code to abide by? Jordan (2001) finds that indeed, non-cheaters have a greater understanding of institutional policies than cheaters do, but since cheaters and non-cheaters received the same information, the difference between them seems to lie in their attitude towards it.

McCabe advocates for a 'just community approach,' which cherishes democratic values and promotes moral reasoning. He further adds that it's not just students that need to be enlightened: 'the real key to building and sustaining an atmosphere of student integrity on any campus may be involving all members of the campus community – students, faculty, and administration' (1993, p. 656).

5.7 Conclusions

5.7.1 Summary

This chapter dealt with a wide variety of a very serious form of fraud in science, namely the fabrication of data, research findings, and test results, which can be accomplished in a number of ways. Well-known cases of forgery from the likes of disgraced academics Cyril Burt and Diederik Stapel were discussed, and the question of how to identify and expose these frauds was explored. On the flip side, the fate of those who do the exposing, the 'whistleblowers,' saw our attention.

Cheating among students, as a fraudulent 'shortcut to knowledge' is discussed, and examples of cheating are presented. From this, we examined whether cheating has increased over the years and if there was in fact a 'cheating crisis,' as some proclaim.

Furthermore, debates were presented on the practice of having others write your papers, hoaxes as a specific form of fabrication and whether they have a cleansing function, and how institutional mechanisms can help liberate academia from fraud.

5.7.2 Discussion

Cheating, fabrication, and forging of research data, among other forms of fraud, have plagued science from its humble beginnings, but has it increased in the past few decades? Is there truly a 'cheating crisis,' perhaps even beyond academia?

There are certainly indications that such a crisis exists, but at the same time, the scientific community appears more concerned with research ethics than ever before. From this, we identify two important questions to ponder. Are we doing enough to prevent or at least combat this crisis? And have conditions in science changed such that fabrication has become more lucrative or attractive? Both questions will be the subject of further discussion in subsequent chapters.

Case Study: The Temptations of Experimental Social Psychology

Ruud Abma

At the end of August 2011, social psychologist and dean of the social science faculty at Tilburg University, Diederik Stapel, was confronted with allegations of fraud. The evidence was gathered by three of Stapel's junior colleagues, who had tried in vain to replicate the results of his earlier studies. A week later, Stapel confessed to the fabrication of his data. He was immediately fired, and a committee was installed to investigate all of his publications.

As may have been expected, the media extensively covered the scandal. Psychologists immediately responded by emphasizing that Stapel was an exception and that psychological research resoundingly conformed to the rules of scientific integrity. Other scientific community members, including methodologists, pointed out the presence of a whole 'grey area' between accepted types of data cleaning (i.e. removing outliers) and outright scientific misconduct. In this grey area, they argued, a vast number of researchers fell prey to the temptation of bending the rules, using procedures such as 'cherry picking' (only reporting significant outcomes) and 'data cooking' (presenting and using processed data as raw data).

Of course, scientific misconduct is not limited to social psychology or the social sciences. It is a challenge for science itself. Around the same time Stapel's fraud was revealed, a professor in vascular surgery was found to have faked results on a massive scale. This too caused a stir in the media, but nothing compared to Stapel's case. Apparently, there is something about (social) psychology that generates an extraordinary amount of media attention (Fig. 5.8).

To understand what Stapel did, it's important to know how he worked. Together with either a colleague or a PhD student, Stapel would propose a research theme and hypothesis, and construct an experimental design. Subsequently, he would volunteer to test it – by himself. He then would return with the data already ordered into

Fig. 5.8 Diederick Stapel's autobiographical account of his downfall, *Derailed* ('Ontspoord'), published in 2012

DIEDERIK STAPEL ONTSPORING

210VETHEUS

neat tables, with readymade statistical analyses in hand. From there, he instructed his PhD students to integrate them into their research articles.

On October 31st 2011, the Levelt Committee published a preliminary report (see https://www.commissielevelt.nl/) concluding that at least 30 journal publications (co)authored by Stapel had been based on fabricated data, and that these fraudulent practices had been going on since at least 2004. Thereupon, Stapel withdrew his doctoral degree and said in a public statement: 'I have used improper means to produce attractive results. In modern science, the level of ambition is high and the competition for scarce means is huge. During the last years, this pressure has gotten the better of me. I did not cope adequately with the pressure to score, to publish (...). I wanted too much too fast. In a system where there is a lack of control, where people usually work alone, I have taken a wrong turn.'

In his statement, its striking that Stapel refers to flaws in the system (pressure to publish, lack of control, etc.). This is in line with his inaugural lecture at Tilburg University in 2008, where he proclaimed: 'It is the context that determines whether you cheat or not. You cheat when you're angry, if the game lets you, if you don't want to lose from your older brother, or if you play against your six year old daughter and do not want to win.'

So, what then about the 'game' of social psychology? What is the context here that determines whether you cheat or not? According to Stapel, it was publication culture: 'Like the consumer that sees bargains and shopping-streets everywhere, the scientist that is rewarded to the publication sees potential articles everywhere. In the long run, this strategic behavior is not in the interest of the forum of science. It leads to scientific pornography, the result of a quick climax. It leads to trendy and conformist science at the expense of originality and creativity.'

It seems there were two sides to Diederik Stapel: one that conformed to the high impact publication culture, with trendy articles that guaranteed attention in both scientific journals and the popular media, and another that rebelled against this culture in the name of quality of content and long term satisfaction – corresponding to the intrinsic value of science. The inner friction between the two may have stirred the anger and cynicism that would eventually lead professor Diederik Stapel toward scientific misconduct.

When Stapel's scheme was finally found out, the self-purifying capacities of the scientific community were hailed. But the damage to the reputation of social psychology was enormous and led to both debates and policy measures within the field (Van Lange, Buunk, Ellemers, & Wigboldus, 2012) and fundamental thoughts about the status of theory formation in social psychology (Ellemers, 2013). The damage he brought on his colleagues and PhD students, who had contributed to his research and publications but were kept in the dark about his fraudulent practices, was immeasurable: apart from the emotional shock resulting from such a severe breach of trust, they had to re-evaluate their publication list and ward off suspicions about their own conduct.

How was it possible that Stapel was able to skirt detection for possibly more than 15 years? Does this mean that the structures of (social) science, with peer review at its foundation, are starting to crumble? The Levelt-reports presented an astonishing example of peer review failing to act as a check on bad science. And that is exactly what the committee's statistical experts found throughout Stapel's publications; 'very doubtful results', 'highly implausible results', 'unbelievably high factor loadings', and 'results extremely unlikely', to name a few.

The scientific fraud perpetrated by Stapel prompted authorities in academia to introduce stricter rules and regulations, and increased efforts to better inform students of the misgivings of scientific misconduct. The Stapel case has also sparked debates on publishing habits and research subject selection, including replication of experimental studies. Compared to the allure of producing novel results, replication is not 'sexy,' and most journals are not interested in publishing replication research (see Chap. 9 for further discussion).

What is to be learned from all of this?

First of all, even if Stapel's misconduct is an isolated case – which it probably is not – his long-lasting misconduct can be seen as partly the result of an unfortunate combination of perverse incentives (publish or perish) and lack of scrutiny (by colleagues and peer reviewers).

Second, this unfortunate combination endemic within – at least – the field of social psychology is influencing a great number of researchers. Just observing the absurdly long lists of publications showcases how much researchers associate scientific quality with number of publications. As long as this system of reward and promotion via publication frequency maintains its grip on researchers, the risk of sliding down the slope from 'data cleaning' to 'data falsification' remains a distinct possibility. We end with the words of philosopher of science David Hull (1998, p. 30): 'Melodramatic as allegations of fraud can be, most scientists would agree that the major problem in science is sloppiness. In the rush to publish, too many corners are cut too often.'

Assignment

- 1. There is apparently something distinct about (social) psychology that allows it to generate an extraordinary amount of media attention. What could that be?
- 2. How do you believe Stapel was able to commit fraud for so long?
- 3. What could be done to prevent cases like this from happening again?

Case Study: Unexplained or Untrue?

Parapsychology is the study of psychological processes that are 'not yet understood' by the 'regular sciences.' Think of extra-sensual perception, or telepathy (thought transference). Research into these processes raise several questions, such as: How can one have access to another's thoughts without the need to communicate? Is it even possible?

William James and Gerard Heymans, the 'founding fathers' of academic psychology in the United States and the Netherlands, respectively, were among the first to take parapsychological phenomena seriously. It was Heymans who attempted to conduct proper experiments in telepathy (Heymans, Brugmans, & Weinberg, 1920). He asked a non-professional 'medium' (an individual claiming psychic sensitivity) to take part in a series of tests lasting several months, running a total of 157 trials. These experiments are regarded as some of the most successful parapsychological studies ever undertaken (Fig. 5.9).

The medium that took part in Heymans experiment was a 23-year-old mathematics student named Abraham van Dam. Van Dam was selected because he claimed the capacity to 'know' the whereabout of hidden objects by simply 'sensing' their location. He was first blindfolded, then seated in a blackened cardboard box approximately the size of a telephone booth. Inside, van Dam was able to stick his hand through a small hole in the front panel of the box. Opposite the box, and out of van Dam's line of sight, lay a rectangular board with 48 marked fields, not unlike a chess board (the fields were numbered A1, A2, etc.).

When van Dam was seated in the booth, Heymans withdrew to the attic above the test room, where he could observe van Dam's hand hovering over the board. Heymans would now concentrate on a pre-selected field on the board. He would then attempt to 'steer' van Dam's hand to the correct field by means of telepathy. Van Dam, being the 'receiving party.' would allow his hand to be 'conducted' by the thoughts of the other. Whenever van Dam believed he had reached the field Heymans supposedly directing him toward, he would tap with his finger on the board, thus selecting a particular field. Upon van Dam's queue, Heymans would select a new field and the same procedure would start anew. Heymans and his assistants were able to record the accuracy of van Dam's selections over a large number of attempts (Fig. 5.10).

The outcome of this experiment was truly impressive. Van Dam produced no less than 55 hits (a success ratio of 35%). This is a significant result, as the probability

Fig. 5.9 Gerard Heymans, 1857–1930. Founder of modern Dutch psychology, researchers of thought transference. (Photo: A.S. Weinberg)



Fig. 5.10 Test set up of the 1919 telepathy experiments. (Source: Heymans et al. 1920, p. 4)



predicted no more than 4 hits in a series of 157 trials, a 1 in 48 chance to pick the correct field in any given attempt. Interestingly, van Dam performed much better at the beginning of the experiment than at the end, leading Heymans to believe that the 'medium' had gradually lost his 'psychic abilities.' Therefore, Heymans decided to

discontinue the series. Finally, it is worth noting that there were two experimental conditions: in one, the sender (Heymans or one of his co-workers) was nearby (staying in the same room), in the other, the sender was further away (staying in the attic). Remarkably, van Dam did slightly *worse* in the 'nearby condition,' suggesting there were no immediate cues he could use to determine his choice.

Historians of science have struggled to interpret this study. Proponents of parapsychology often cite the experiments as solid proof that telepathy exists. Heymans himself claimed that 'the existence of thought-transference [...], has been put beyond reasonable doubt by these experiments.' Very rarely do studies in the field of parapsychology result in such convincing evidence. But what does that mean – to have 'convincing evidence'?

In 1979, a team of researchers at Groningen University attempted to replicate Heymans' experiment using the same design, but with a different medium and modern equipment, like video cameras (Draaisma, 1970). They were resolute in ensuring that no form of 'information leakage' help the medium guess correctly.

What they found was in effect the opposite of Heymans' findings. During the entire series of trials, their medium never produced a single hit. Now, a failed replication doesn't necessarily prove that the original experiment was 'corrupted,' the researchers admitted, but it does lay barren the challenges of studying parapsychology scientifically. That is to say: if the phenomenon you study does not possess an observable set of rules, and rather its study depends on finding someone who happens to have 'psychic abilities,' then this 'inexplicable process' cannot be studied scientifically. Therefore, parapsychology cannot be considered a science.

Psychologist Hans Linschoten (1959) observed, however, that parapsychology *can* be a science if it 'distances itself entirely from any inkling towards the mystic' and its practitioners dedicate themselves to 'finding law-like psychological functions.' Inevitably, this recommendation will burden parapsychology with a terrible dilemma. To become reputable (and thus be fully accepted as a science), parapsychology must prove that its object of study (the paranormal) does not really exist, and is in fact a subset of psychology proper. But then of course, it would no longer be *para*psychology, but 'just' psychology.

Assignment

Consider the value of evidence (Heymans' findings) and counterevidence (Groningen research findings) in controversial research. When should you be prepared to accept 'strange findings,' and at what point do you accept that counterevidence has subverted your initial 'strange' findings? Replication is the key concept here but consider how difficult it could be to replicate an original study in parapsychology! Think about the relevance of the Heymans studies when contemplating the following questions:

• What does it take to decide whether or not something is an 'unexplained phenomenon' or is just 'untrue'; i.e. a chance finding?

- Should researchers be allowed to ask 'strange questions'? In other words: can the social sciences study 'elusive phenomena' such as telepathy, and if yes, are there any limits?
- Are there subjects in the social sciences that you believe resemble parapsychological phenomena in their inability to be studied scientifically?

Suggested Reading

Horace Freeman Judson's (2004) *The Great Betrayal* and John Grant's (2008) *Corrupted Science* present highly approachable accounts of both well-known and lesser-known cases of scientific fraud. *Fraud and Education: The Worm in the Apple*, by Harold Noah and Max Eckstein (2001) focuses on cases of cheating, test tampering, and other forms of professional misconduct in science. Daniele Fanelli's 2009 studies are a must read for any academic interested in these issues.

References

- Anderson, E. M., & Murdoch, T. B. (2007). *The psychology of academic cheating*. London: Elsevier.
- Anonymous. (2014, April 15). Grootschalige fraude dor eerste jaars economie UvA [Large-scale fraud by economy freshmen at Amsterdam University]. *Algemeen Dagblad*. Retrieved from: https://www.ad.nl/binnenland/grootschalige-fraude-door-eerstejaars-economie-uva~a62acb79/
- Anonymous. (2016, December 16). Wirbel an der Uni Salzburg: 100 Pr
 üfungen nicht beurteilt [Fuss at the University of Salzburg: 100 exams not decided]. Salzburger Nachrichten. Retrieved from: https://www.sn.at/salzburg/politik/wirbel-an-der-uni-salzburg-100-pruefungennicht-beurteilt-604705
- Barbour, V. (2017, May). 'From the outgoing chair'. COPE newsletter, 5(5).
- Becker, D., Connoly, J., Lentz, P., & Morison, J. (2006). Using the business fraud triangle to predict academic dishonesty among business students. Academy of Educational Leadership Journal, 10(1), 37–54.
- Board of examinations of Tilburg University, ruling 972. (2012, July 2). Retrieved from: https:// www.tilburguniversity.edu/sites/default/files/download/ID%20972_2.pdf
- Bongers, V. (2015, March 19). Taakstraf voor fraude met cijferlijst. [Community service for fraud with grade list]. *Leids universitair weekblad MARA*, 38(23). Retrieved from: http://archief. mareonline.nl/archive/2015/03/18/taakstraf-voor-fraude-met-cijferlijst
- Bridgestock, M. (1982). A sociological approach to fraud in science. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Sociology*, 18(3), 364–383. https://doi.org/10.1177/144078338201800305.
- Cendrowski, H., Martin, J. P., & Petro, L. W. (2007). *The handbook of fraud deterrence*. Hoboken: J.P. Wiley & Sons.
- Chapman, K. J., & Lupton, R. A. (2004). Academic dishonesty in a global educational market: A comparison of Hong Kong and American university business students. *International Journal* of Educational Management, 18(7), 425–435. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540410563130.
- Choo, F., & Tan, K. (2008). The effect of fraud triangle factors on students' cheating behaviors. In B. N. Schwartz & A. H. Catanach (Eds.), *Advances in accounting education* (Vol. 9, pp. 205–220). Bingley, UK: Emerald. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1085-4622(08)09009-3.
- Commission Levelt. (2012). Failing science. In *The fraudulent research practices of social psychologist Diederik Stapel* [Falen wetenschap: De frauduleuze onderzoekspraktijken van sociaal-psycholoog Diederik Stapel]. Tilburg: Tilburg University.

Cressey, D. R. (1973). Other people's money. Montclair: Patterson Smith.

- Crocker, J. (2011). The road to fraud starts with a single step. *Nature*, 479, 151. https://doi. org/10.1038/479151a.
- Davis, S. (1993). Cheating in college is for a career: Academic dishonesty in the 1990s. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Southeastern Psychological Association (39th, Atlanta, GA, March 24–27, 1993). Retrieved at: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED358382.pdf
- Dickerson, D. (2007). Facilitated plagiarism: The saga of term-paper mills and the failure of legislation and litigation to control them. *Villanova Law Review*, 52(1), 21–46. https://digitalcommons.law.villanova.edu/vlr/vol52/iss1/2.
- Diekhoff, G. M., Labeff, E. L., Clark, E., Williams, L. E., Francis, B., & Haines, V. J. (1996). College cheating: Ten years later. *Research in Higher Education*, 37(4), 487–502. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF01730111.
- De Vrieze, J. (2017, September 23). 'Toen deze promovenda een fraudeur ontmaskerde, keken haar collega's weg' [When this PhD student unmasked a fraud, her colleagues looked the other way] *De Groene Amsterdammer*.
- Fanelli, D. (2009, May 29). How many scientists fabricate and falsify research? A systematic review and meta-analysis of survey data. PLOS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005738
- Fanelli, D. (2010a, April 7). Positive results increase down the hierarchy of the sciences. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010068
- Fanelli, D. (2010b, April 21). Do pressures to publish increase scientists' bias? An empirical support from US states data. PLOS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010271
- Fanelli, D. (2012). Negative results are disappearing from most disciplines and countries. *Scientometrics*, 90, 891–904. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-011-0494-7.
- Farrell, M. P. (2001). *Collaborative circles. Friendship dynamics & creative work*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison process. *Human Relations*, 7(2), 117–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872675400700202.
- Franklin-Stokes, A., & Newstead, S. E. (1995). Undergraduate cheating: Who does what and why? *Studies in Higher Education*, 20(2), 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 03075079512331381673.
- Gould, S. J. (1981). The mismeasurement of man. London: Penguin.
- Grant, J. (2008). Corrupted science. Fraud, ideology and politics in science. Wisley: Fact, Figures & Fun.
- Hayes, D., Hurtt, K., & Bee, S. (2006). The war on fraud: Reducing cheating in classroom. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, 3(2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v3i2.1742.
- Healy, D. (2005). Shaping discontent. The role of sciences and marketing. In P. Pietikainen (Ed.), Modernity and its discontent. Sceptical essays on the psychomedical management of malaise (pp. 33–48). Stockholm: Axel and Margaret Ax:son Johnson Foundation.
- Jordan, A. E. (2001). College cheating: The role of motivation, perceived norms, attitudes, and knowledge of institutional policy. *Ethics & Behavior*, 11(3), 233–247. https://doi.org/10.1207/ S15327019EB1103_3.
- Judson, H. F. (2004). The great betrayal. Fraud in science. Orlando: Harcourt.
- Lim, V. K. G., & See, S. K. B. (2001). Attitudes toward, and intentions to report, academic cheating among students in Singapore. *Ethics & Behavior*, 11(3), 261–274. https://doi.org/10.1207/ S15327019EB1103_5.
- Maiden, B., & Perry, B. (2011). Dealing with free-riders in assessed group work: Results from a study at a UK university. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 36(4), 451–464. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930903429302.
- Malgwi, C. A., & Rakovski, C. C. (2009). Behavioral implications and evaluation of academic fraud risk factors. *Journal of Forensic & Investigative Accounting*, 1(2), 2–37.
- Markowitz, D., & Hancock, J. (2014). Linguistic traces of a scientific fraud: The case of Diederik Stapel. PLoS One, 9(8), e105937. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105937.
- McCabe, D. L. (1993). Faculty responses to academic dishonesty: The influence of student honor codes. *Research in Higher Education*, 34(5), 649–650. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00991924.
- McCabe, D. L. (2005). It takes a village. Academic dishonesty & educational opportunity. *Liberal Education*, 91(3), 26–31.

- McCabe, D. L., & Trevino, L. K. (1996). What we know about cheating in college: Longitudinal trends and recent developments. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 28(1), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00991924.
- Moffatt, B., & Elliott, C. (2007). Ghost marketing: Pharmaceutical companies and ghostwritten journal articles. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 50(1), 18–31. https://doi.org/10.1353/ pbm.2007.0009.
- Nefs, R. (2019). *Free-riding among students: Causes, consequences and solutions*. Unpublished report, Utrecht University.
- Noah, H. J., & Eckstein, M. A. (2001). Fraud and education. The worm in the apple. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Pabian, P. (2015). Why 'cheating' research is wrong: New departures for the study of student copying in higher education. *High Education*, 69(5), 809–821. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10734-014-9806-1.
- Prince, D. J., Fulton, R. A., & Garsombke, T. W. (2009). Comparisons of proctored versus nonproctored testing strategies in graduate distance education curriculum. *Journal of College Teaching & Education*, 6(7), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v6i7.1125.
- Rettinger, D. A., & Kramer, Y. (2009). Situational and personal causes of student cheating. *Research in Higher Education*, 50(3), 293–313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-008-9116-5.
- Singal, J. (2015, May 29). The case of the amazing gay-marriage data: How a graduate student reluctantly uncovered a huge scientific fraud. *New York Magazine*.
- Sismondo, S. (2009). Ghost in the machine: Publication planning in the medical sciences. *Social Studies of Sciences*, *39*(2), 171–198. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312708101047.
- Sokal, A., & Bricmond, J. (1998). Fashionable nonsense. Postmodern intellectuals' abuse of science. New York: Picador.
- Swaray, R. (2012). An evaluation of a group project designed to reduce free-riding and promote active learning. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 37(3), 285–292. https://doi. org/10.1080/02602938.2010.531246.
- Thanatos. (2006, November 10). *Re: Ivy dissertations is a total scam*. Retrieved from https://essayscam.org/forum/es/ivy-dissertation-total-two-others-try-72/
- Thomas, A. (August 19, 2015). 'Forget plagiarism: there's a new and bigger threat to academic integrity'. The Conversation.com/uk.
- Tucker, W. H. (1997). Re-reconsidering Burt: Beyond a reasonable doubt. *Journal of the History of the Behavioral Sciences*, 33(2), 145–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6696(199721)33:2<145::AID-JHBS6>3.0.CO;2-S.
- Vandehey, M., Diekhoff, G. M., & LaBeff, E. E. (2007). College cheating: A twenty-year followup and the addition of an honor code. *Journal of College Student Development*, 48(4), 468–480. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2007.0043.
- Versluis, V., & De Wild, A. F. (2015). Actieve borging tegen fraude [Active security against fraud]. Kenniscentrum Business innovatie, Hogeschool Rotterdam. Retrieved at: https://www.hogeschoolrotterdam.nl/onderzoek/projecten-en-publicaties/pub/actieve-borging-tegen-fraude/ f6b3626e-a5e4-42b8-9199-3f2dcd469647/
- Wible, J. R. (1992). Fraud in science: An economic approach. *Philosophy of the Social Sciences*, 22(1), 5–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/004839319202200101.
- Woolf, P. (1986). Pressure to publish and fraud in science. Annals of Internal Medicine, 104(2), 254–256. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-104-2-254.
- Wowra, S. A. (2007). Moral identities, social anxiety, and academic dishonesty among American College Students. *Ethics and Behavior*, 17(3), 303–321. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10508420701519312.
- Yang, S. C. (2012). Attitudes and behaviors related to academic dishonesty: A survey of Taiwanese graduate students. *Ethics & Behavior*, 22(3), 218–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/1050842 2.2012.672904.
- Zheng, S., & Cheng, J. (2015). Academic ghostwriting and international students. *Young Scholars in Writing*, *12*, 124–133. Retrieved at: https://repository.usfca.edu/cgi/viewcontent. cgi?article=1000&context=rl_stu

Zwagerman, S. (2008). The scarlet P: Plagiarism, and the rhetoric of academic integrity. *College Composition and Communication*, *59*(4), 676–710. Retrieved March 27, 2020, from www. jstor.org/stable/20457030

References for Case Study: The Temptations of Experimental Social Psychology

- Abma, R. (2013). *De publicatiefabriek. Over de betekenis van de affaire-Stapel* [The publication factory. On the significance of the Stapel affair]. Nijmegen: Vantilt.
- Ellemers, N. (2013). Connecting the dots. Mobilizing theory to reveal the big picture in social psychology (and why we should do this). *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 43(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.1932.
- Hull, D. L. (1998). Scientists behaving badly. New York Review of Books, December, 3, 24-30.
- Levelt, P., et al. (2011). Interim-rapportage inzake door prof. dr. D.A. Stapel gemaakte inbreuk op wetenschappelijke integriteit. Tilburg: Universiteit van Tilburg.
- Levelt, P., et al. (2012). Flawed science. The fraudulent research practices of social psychologist Diederik Stapel. Tilburg: Tilburg University.
- Stapel, D. A. (2008). Op zoek naar de ziel van de economie. Over het werkwoord hebben en het werkwoord zijn [Searching for the soul of the economy. On the verb 'to have' and the verb 'to be']. Tilburg: Tilburg University Press.

Stapel, D. A. (2011, October 31). Public statement.

Van Lange, P. A. M., Buunk, A. P., Ellemers, N., & Wigboldus, D. H. J. (2012). Sharpening scientific policy after Stapel. ASPO: Internal report. https://kli.sites.uu.nl/wp-content/uploads/ sites/426/2019/09/Sharpening-Scientific-Policy-After-Stapel.pdf

References for Case Study: Unexplained or Untrue?

- Draaisma, D. (1970). Een Replica van Heymans' onderzoek betreffende telepathie [A replica of Heymans' study into telepathy]. *Heymans Bulletins*, p. 79.
- Heymans, G., Brugmans, H. J. F. W., & Weinberg, A. A. (1920). Een experimenteel onderzoek betreffende telepathie [An experimental study regarding telepathy]. *Mededeelingen der SPR*, *1*, 1), 1–1), 7.
- Linschoten, J. (1959). Parapsychologie en algemene psychologie' [Parapsychology and general psychology]. *Tijdschrift voor Parapsychologie*, 27, 226–237.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

